in which it is exclusively used are rare (a characteristic example is the Mausoleum of the Sāmānids at Bukhārā, where the arrangement of the bricks is particularly stylistic); in fact, it is generally combined with other materials (e.g. the Kaşr al-Hayr al-Gharbī [q.v.] consists of a wall of limestone, fired brick and unfired brick at the top); it is used for certain parts of the building (arches, vaults, staircases, etc.) and put to good use by architects to vary the decoration of their works. From the 6th/12th century, the glazed block has offered the possibility of obtaining similar effects to those of mosaic.

Bibliography: Apart from the sources cited.

Bibliography: Apart from the sources cited, see the various works on Islamic architecture, the bibliography of the sections related to the monuments of the towns, countries and dynasties, and the articles Architecture and Binh?.

(CH. PELLAT)

CLABLA, the name given by Arabic authors to NIEBLA, ancient Ilipla, which was the seat of a bishop in the Visigothic period and which is situated about 40 miles to the west of Seville in the right bank of the Rio Tinto (in the modern province of Huelva). Certain authors, notably Yākūt, also call it al-Hamra' because of the reddish colour of its walls and of its environs. It was the main town of one of the kūras of the Gharb al-Andalus [q.v.]; it must have been integrated within the great division of Ishbiliya [q.v.], and separated from it in the course of the administrative reorganisation. The kūra was bounded, at 40 miles to the west, by the plain of Ukshunuba; at 20 miles to the east, by the Aljarafe of Seville; at 50 miles to the north, by the kūra of Bādja [q.v.] (Beja); and at 6 miles to the south, by the Atlantic. According to al-'Udhrī, it contained eight districts (akālīm), including that of the town itself, and the total tax revenue in the time of al-Hakam I went as high as 15,627 dinars. The town's population included a certain number of Arab families, amongst whom the Yaḥṣubīs were dominant, some Berbers and the descendants of the Hispano-Romans and the Hispano-Visigoths, both Christian and Islamicised.

The soil of Labla favoured all sorts of agricultural exploitation, thanks to its fertility and to the waters which the three river sources of the Sierra d'Aracena brought down; one of these gave sweet drinking water, another contained alum and the third copper sulphate. The district produced cereals and a wide variety of fruits, with fig trees, numerous olive trees and vineyards which yielded high-quality raisins. Excellent safflower ('usfūr, carthamus tinctarius) was grown which, together with other dyestuffs like cochineal (kirmix), was used for dying leather and skins. Bovines and horses were reared, and these, plus hunting and fishing, were sources of wealth. It was also a lively commercial centre.

Niebla still retains ancient remains and solid walls from its original foundation. There were dependent on the *madīna* towns and a fortress, notably for a certain period, Huelva (Awbābā, Ūnaba or Wānaba), Tejada (Ṭalyāta) and Gibraleón (<u>Di</u>abal al-'Uyūn) on the Odiel.

According to Ibn al-Shabbāt, it was conquered in 93/712 by Mūsā b. Nuṣayr or, more feasibly, by his son 'Abd al-'Azīz in the next year. Niebla was the seat of a part of the djund of Hims. In 149/766 there was the rising of Sa'īd al-Maṭarī al-Yaḥṣubī. In 240/844, after having occupied Ishbīliya for some days, the Northmen or Madjūs [q.v.] went on to Labla, sacked it and carried off the inhabitants.

In 284/897 occurred another rising, whose suppression the amir of Cordova entrusted to his son Aban. Between this date and 304/916 it must have risen yet again, for on 20 Ramadan 304/17 March 917 the ḥādib Badr b. Ahmad occupied it when it was in the power of a certain 'Uthman b. Nasr. At the fall of the caliphate, it became a tā'ifa principality, actually set up in 414/1023-4 when Abu 'l-'Abbas Ahmad b. Yahyā al-Yahsubī, Tādi al-Dawla, rose up and was proclaimed ruler, this being recognised by the people of Gibraleón. His brother and successor (in 433/1041-2) had difficulties with al-Muctadid of Seville. For some time, al-Muzaffar of Badajoz provided the ruler of Labla with help, but in the end the latter had to shelter under the protection of Abu 'l-Walid Ibn Djahwar [see DJAHWARIDS], with whom he sought refuge in 433/1052-3. Labla remained under the rule of his nephew, Fath b. Khalaf b. Yahyā, Nāşir al-Dawla, who made a treaty with al-Muctadid; but the latter ravaged his territories and in 445/1053-4 Fath b. Khalaf had to flee to Cordova, where he died.

In the middle of the year 484/1091, Labla passed into the hands of the Almoravids. In ca. 538/1144, the doctrines of Ibn Kāsī [q.v.] of Mértola caused a certain amount of anxiety. Being hostile to Almoravid power, Yüsuf b. Ahmad al-Bitrūdjī defended the town against Ibn Ghaniya until the time when it submitted, in 540/1146, to the Almohad Barrāz al-Masufi. Eight or nine years later, the latter rebelled, and Labla had to be taken in 549/1154 by Yahyā b. Yaghmūr, who conducted a great massacre of the populace. The Infante Don Sancho of Portugal and Portuguese troops passed by Labla in 574/1178 and 578/1182. Under Ibn Mahfüz, it came to form, in the 7th/13th century, an independent principality comprising Huelva, Saltés and part of the Algarve, and recognised the suzerainty of Ferdinand II of Castile. It was besieged for several months by Alfonso X, and capitulated in 660/1262.

Bibliography: Crónica del Moro Rasis, ed. Diego Catalán and Soledad de Andrés, Madrid 1974, 89-91, 305; Ibn Ḥazm, Djamharat al-ansāb, Cairo 1962, 105, 272, 321. Ibn Ghālib, Farhat al-anfus, partial ed. 'Abd al-Badī', in RIMA, i/2 (1955), 291-2; 'Udhrī, Fragm. géograf.- hist. de al-Masālik ilā djāmi al-mamālik, ed. Abd al-Azīz al-Ahwānī, Madrid 1965, 107, 110-11; Idrīsī, Maghrib, text 174, 178-79, 208, 215-16; Yāķūt, s.vv. Labla and al-Hamra'; Himyarī, al-Rawd al-mi'far, text 168-9, tr. 203 and index; Fagnan, Extraits, index; Ibn al-Shabbat, Silat al-Simt, ed. A. M. al-Abbādī, in RIEI, xiv (1967-8), text 117, tr. E. de Santiago Simón, in CHI, v (Granada 1973), 50-2; Ibn Sasid, Mughrib, i, 339, 347; Makkarī, ed. Ihsān 'Abbās, Beirut 1968, index; Ibn Ḥayyān, Muktabis, ed. Antuña, index and vol. v, in course of publication); Ibn 'Idhārī, ii, 15, 53, 88, 138, 169, iii, index, iv, ed. Ihsan 'Abbas, Beirut 1967, 131, ed. A. Huici, Tetouan 1963, 118, 201, 322, 436; Ibn Bassām, Dhakhīra, ii/1, ed. Luṭfi ʿAbd al-Badīʿ, Cairo 1975, 23-7; Ibn al-Khaṭīb, A'māl, index; Baydhak, in Docs. inéd. d'hist. almoh., text 125, tr. 213; Ibn al-Athir, tr. Fagnan, 48, 109, 221. As well as the Hist. mus. d'Esp. of Dozy, ed. E. Lévi-Provençal, index, see also Lévi-Provençal, Hist. Esp. mus., index; A. Prieto y Vives, Los Reyes de Taifas, Madrid 1926; F. Codera, Decadencia y desaparición de los almorávides en España, Saragossa 1899; J. Bosch Vilá, Los almorávides, Tetouan 1956, index; A. Huici Miranda, Historia política del